FORT VANCOUVER REGIONAL LIBRARY DISTRICT
Board of Trustees Public Meeting

April 9-10, 2007
Board Retreat

CALL TO ORDER
Chair Karen Peterson called the retreat to order at 9:06 a.m. at White Salmon Valley
Community Library.

PRESENT

Chair Karen Peterson presiding. Other Board members: Jack Burkman, Jerry King, Merle
Koplan, Bonnie Reynolds, Rose Smith and Bill Yee. Staff attending included: Bruce
Ziegman, Executive Director; Patty Duitman, Operations Director; Mary Devlin, Community
Libraries Director; Doreen Turpen, Access and Programs Director; Sue Vanlaanen,
Communications Director; Melinda Chesbro, Content Management Director; Karin Ford,
Vancouver Community Librarian; Rita Levesque, Building Projects Manager; Rick Smithrud,
FVRL Foundation Director; Becky Pettigrew and Debbie Hose, recording.

Other staff and citizens attending the evening portion of the meeting: Anna Cross, Jane
Higgins, Jennifer Hull, Lynne Kilgore and Tove Stocks.

AGENDA APPROVAL & INTRODUCTIONS
The agenda was approved as presented. The group spent several minutes making
introductions.

MINUTES
The minutes of the March 12, 2007 meeting were approved as emailed.

BUILDING PROJECT UPDATE

A packet of information was provided by Rita Levesque, the building project manager.
Levesque said the other project management team members include:

* Doreen Turpen, Special Projects Director

* Dennis Sword, Construction Manager

* Julie Marr, Executive Assistant

There are several other teams involved in the projects as needed, including the administrative
team, branch managers for the projects and other key staff members; architects and
consultants; and members of the public including focus groups, Friends of the Library,
neighborhood association members and numerous others.

Turpen shared information about the Guiding Principles. This is a visionary statement to
capture the imagination of those involved in the project. Much of this document has to do
with how we expect the public to experience the buildings. Turpen said a goal is to have user-
centered design that focuses on how the public will experience the library through their use of
the building. This includes allowing patrons to be more in control of their use of the library,



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 2

such as self-checkout. Self-checkout will free up staff to help with aspects of using the library
that are not as intuitive to patrons. Most people want to use the library themselves, and want
it to be intuitive so they can figure it out easily. Turpen said that at Three Creeks library, we
tried to pack in a lot of materials which created problems like narrow isles and tall shelves.
We want to get away from that. The new libraries need to be functional for those in
motorized chairs. Lower shelving heights will be used in order to eliminate that tall shelf that
many people can’t reach. What this means is that we are looking at libraries that won’t have
quite a much collection capacity as you might otherwise see. In order to deal with that, we’ll
make sure there will be a regular refreshment of materials.

Turpen said some of the Guiding Principles address the characteristics of our communities.
There is also a commitment to sustainable design and to a design that will be useful for a long
time. She said that those involved in the projects will continue to refer to the Guiding
Principles as throughout the building projects.

Levesque went over the terminology they are using:

e Building program: This is an exhaustive study of all departments and areas in the
library, such as the lobby, meeting rooms, service points, estimated number of titles, types
of tables and chairs based on their uses, and technology. Turpen noted that their handout
includes some sample pages from the building program for the Eastside library. Many
meetings were held to formulate the program. Staff also reviewed building programs of
other libraries to get guidance. A similar process was used for the Battle Ground library.

e Pre-design phase: This is the current phase for the Eastside library. The architects begin
to sketch out some ideas, including placing the shape of the library on the footprint.
Levesque shared several large posters of the Eastside and Battle Ground projects and
explained the process used by the architects. In one diagram, the architects stood
toothpicks up on paper to represent an existing tree on the Eastside library property. They
are going to try to save as many trees as possible. They also drew some of the areas
within the library to show adjacencies, such as where restrooms would be located in
relation to other areas. The architects also work with staff to review workflow, site
concepts, entries and service points. Mechanical systems and preliminary construction
budgets are also reviewed.

e Schematic design: During this phase, the scale of the building layout and interior are
enlarged. Exterior elevations and reflected ceiling plans are developed. Material options
are reviewed. Construction cost estimates are reviewed and the budget is fine-tuned.

e Design development: The project scale is enlarged again. Interior elevations and
materials samples are provided. A cost comparison of the building systems is reviewed,
including mechanical, electrical and plumbing. Construction specifications are drafted.

e Construction documents: This is the final phase of design. Working drawings are
prepared and specifications are finalized. The budget is finalized. Architects work with
the library to issue Requests for Proposals. This is the longest phase of design, requiring
2-3 months to complete.

Levesque and Turpen shared updates on the current building projects:

* Vancouver Mall Library: The technology enhancements in this project are funded by the
bond measure. Levesque showed a diagram of the interior remodel. Technology
enhancements will include installing a materials handling system, patron self-checkout



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 3

and public computer upgrades. Adjustments will be made to the interior to allow the
children’s area to be enlarged and creation of a teen’s area. Shorter shelving will replace
some taller shelves to help open up the area. This is a good time to recarpet and paint the
interior too. The target completion date is the end of 2007. Levesque also noted that staff
is working on a lease extension with Mall management.

* Eastside Library: Several public meetings and workshops are being held. The new
library will be about 25,000 square feet, which is close to the size of the main floor of the
current Vancouver Community Library. Turpen said we’ve been talking about how
libraries are changing. Collections are very important, but we have new tools to help us
assess what items are not moving, so we can get the right books in there that will get
checked out. Staff has done some demographic analysis to understand who lives in our
communities closest to the libraries. The Eastside Library will have special language
collections, including Chinese, Russian, Spanish and Japanese. Its service area has a lot
of younger children, including some areas with low-income young families. The project
team is also looking at meeting spaces. The new library will have a general community
meeting room, plus a storytime room that will be available for additional seating when not
in use for programs. They have added a third meeting room recently, to be a smaller room
that seats about 20 people. There will also be study rooms that seat 3-6 people.

Turpen referred to the artist rendering for the Eastside Library that was done several years
ago. She said this was an early concept. A new rendering will be done soon. Turpen also
referred to a diagram that looks like a floor plan but isn’t; rather it is used to make sure the
number of book shelves specified in the building program would fit into the square
footage of the library. This type of diagram is useful in testing out desired components of
a new library.

Turpen noted that there has been discussion of having patron self-checkout next to the
children’s area, so parents can check out books while their kids are still using the library.

Smith said she likes the idea of a fireplace, which was included in the conceptual drawing.
Turpen said that the architects like to include a focal point such as a fireplace; this is
something that draws you in. Fireplaces seem to be a popular item right now. Smith said
she liked the one she saw at the Tigard library. Levesque said the other thing the
architects are trying to do now is include an exterior exploration area for children, whether
it’s a play area outside or simply a place they can go to and read. This came out of the
early learning study. King asked if there will still be a connection to the Firstenburg
Center. Levesque said the team is looking at that still. If it’s not connected, there could
be a security issue. There will be significant cross-traffic between the two buildings.
Peterson asked if there are any concerns about supervision. Turpen said that would be
addressed soon in one of the next drawings. Right now, the focus of concern has been
about the trees. Levesque said the architects have been concerned about including a line
of sight. The study room walls are glass.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 4

* Battle Ground Library: A layout is very close to being completed. It’s being fine-tuned.
Chesbro will be reviewing the collection size again as there was a shelving change. Yee
asked about their Friends Room. Turpen said it is a very important component for the
Battle Ground Friends group.

Levesque explained that a live-work development called the Battle Ground Village is
being built across the street from where the new library will be located. In order to
provide access from that development, the new library will have two entrances. She noted
that this is not a bond-funded project. The cost of the project is proved through local
fundraising. Major contributors include those provided by developer Dennis Pavlina,
funds provided by the library district, grants through the FVRL Foundation and Friends of
the Library fundraising. The Friends group has a very vocal voice in this project. King
asked how much was left to fundraise and Ziegman said it’s under $500,000.

Reynolds noted that the children’s area looks isolated in the Battle Ground library
drawing. Turpen explained that there is a line of sight into that area; the line in the
drawing is not a wall. Turpen said the children’s area needs to be close to community
meeting room. The plan is to allow the meeting room to open up so it becomes part of the
children’s area. All the furniture between the two spaces would be moveable. This will
allow room for much larger groups at major programs.

* Main Library: Killian Pacific, the developer, is working on resolving final issues related
to the Columbia River Crossing project and relocating the auto dealership that is still on
the property. The new library will have three floors. The developer is looking at breaking
ground on the parking garage at the end of 2008, which means we need to get started very
soon on the building program. Ziegman said that the developers will build the parking lot
first, but in order to do so correctly they need to know quite a bit about the library above
it. King asked about the impact of the Columbia River Crossing. Ziegman said he thinks
this is going to work out fine; it does not sound like it will interfere with the location of
the library at this point.

e Other Project News: Duitman reported that the library has three years left on its current
Vancouver Mall library lease. Staff is working with Mall Management on a 10 year lease.
Staff is waiting for this to be completed before proceeding with the Mall library project.

Duitman also noted that we are on track to sell the bonds. The Vancouver Library Capital
Facility Area (VLCFA) board will meet on May 1 to proceed with sale. On May 15, the
VLCFA will meet with the underwriters to approve it. The first release of money will
occur on June 5. Duitman said two bond sales are planned, in amounts of $10 million and
$33 million. The second sale would likely be in either 2008 or 2009, depending on the
status of the projects.

Duitman addressed the issue of Friends space. When the White Salmon library was built,
there was a lot of interest in having a Friends space including involving Senator
Honeyford. It was determined at that time by the state auditors that the Friends had to pay
for the internal walls of their space. Since the SDS Lumber Company paid for the
building, a Friends space was allowed there. Staff has continued to discuss with the
auditors the need to get Friends spaces in other locations. The auditors have finally



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 5

agreed to allow it. Ziegman said this is a huge public relations breakthrough. Peterson
asked if the Friends are responsible for the interior improvements of their space. Duitman
said that will need to be determined, as this change was made very recently. Yee asked if
we’ll notify the Cascade Park Friends that they could have a Friends Room too. Turpen
said that this did not appear to be an interest for the Friends group in general; it was one
person that asked about it. Koplan said perhaps the Friends groups have no experience in
knowing what a Friends Room could do for them. This could provide them with an
opportunity for ongoing revenue. In many states where it has been allowed, it’s been a
huge source of revenue and a great service for the community. People can go in and buy
books whenever they want. Koplan encouraged examining the value of what a Friends
Room could provide, and if we feel it is valuable, encourage the Friends groups to
consider it. She said if the Friends group does not have the membership ability currently
to make a commitment, they might in the future. We could be forward thinking about it.
Yee suggested building an extra study room that could be turned into Friends space in the
future.

6. STRATEGIC PLAN UPDATE

Vanlaanen shared an update about the 2006-2008 strategic plan, which was adopted in April

2005. A full year of work preceded it, including focus groups, surveys, a citizen committee

and staff involvement. Staff has learned a lot about the process including what we might do

differently in the future. Vanlaanen highlighted several successes:

e Goal 2: building project funding has been obtained for VVancouver and is very close to
being obtained in Battle Ground

e Goal 3, Objective 1: The objective was to distribute Hello Baby bags to 60% of the
families with new babies in the district. We exceeded our goal by 58 babies. This
program is continuing.

e Goal 5, Objective 1: This objective relates to programming. Several collaborative
programming efforts meet this goal, including Making Democracy Work, Teen
Conversation Cafés and Celilo Stories.

Vanlaanen said there are a total of 16 objectives; however, there are 17 target dates. We have
passed eight of the target dates with four objectives being met, two nearly completed and two
with changed objectives or dates. There are two remaining target dates for 2007 and both
projects are well underway and will be completed on time. Seven projects have target dates
for 2008, with one being completed, three well underway and three in preliminary planning
stages. Vanlaanen said the plan is going well and isn’t bad for the district’s first try. This
type of plan draws from the community what they see as important; VVanlaanen said that
process in itself was a big plus.

Ziegman explained what staff felt they would do differently in a future planning effort:

e While we had a good community group in the committee, we need to make sure the
younger generation is involved in the future. Not having this perspective meant there was
a focus on traditional services. Ziegman said a teen focus group for the Eastside library
provided us with a very different perspective about library services and really emphasized
this point. A better balance is needed in the future.

e The Strategic Plan was an overlay to our regular services. The discussions were about
what we should do differently or more of, rather than looking at the bigger picture. Asa



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 6

result, it was not integrated. Staff has been making good progress with it; however it’s
been over and above what we are already doing.

Peterson asked if a longer plan would be used next time. Vanlaanen said the length of the
plan seemed appropriate. It’s harder to predict going out further than that in much detail. All
the material we read recommended three years. We will have a 20 year facilities plan. Koplan
agreed to the difficulty in planning out that far. Even when you plan, a major project can
come out of the blue, as happened with the Washougal Civic Center project that would have
included a new library. Yee said planning isn’t unique to us; everyone does it, and it’s not
always predictable. You do the best you can with the information you have. If something
comes up, you have to deal with it. Ziegman said we can predict where we think we might
need a new branch library 10-20 years out based on growth patterns. King said based on his
experience, he’s been a little skeptical about planning. We’d submitted to our voters planning
to build a new main library on the current site, and then we got an opportunity for the new
site. You can’t let your plan stop you from taking advantage of opportunities. Peterson said
in the next facilities plan, we should incorporate the idea of being responsive to opportunities.
This provides a rationale for looking forward. She also suggested that we devote time to
discuss changing trends at every board retreat.

Peterson recessed the meeting for a break from 10:30-10:44 a.m.

7.

MISSION STATEMENT

Peterson said that staff has provided several suggestions for wording changes to the Mission
statement. The concern comes from several citizens in Klickitat County who do not consider
themselves a part of Southwest Washington. She said the goal of this discussion is to
wordsmith a Mission statement suggestion for action later that evening.

Peterson asked for feedback from board members. Koplan said there is a Frasier Valley
Regional Library just outside Vancouver Canada that has the same initials as us. She has
ended up at their library Web site several times when trying to access ours. She’d like us to
have some way of identify us as being located in Washington.

Ziegman said we didn’t want to eliminate a geographic reference entirely; however we could
not find an elegant way to describe where we are located geographically. King asked if this
disagreement with the geographic reference could be something commonly felt by those
residing in Klickitat Count. Reynolds said she believed so, as there has been some confusion
within the communities about where the connections are — either to Yakima or VVancouver.

Devlin said she talked to the Goldendale Community Librarian, Naomi Fisher, about this
issue. The branch staff has heard several comments that were quizzical in nature. Fisher had
said on the whole, as soon as you go east of Goldendale, it’s not just comments but major
concern; however people are too polite to say anything. Reynolds said it’s reasonable that
there is concern, there’s confusion about the health district too. Chesbro said in a mission
statement, you can spend time saying where we are or what we do. It’s probably more
important to say what we do. King said you mention the name FVRL several times, to him
using this reference is fine. Peterson asked if it would help to say multi-county. Vanlaanen
said one of important aspects of a mission is that it is memorable. Peterson said she likes
option #5, which simply removes the geographic reference at the end. Koplan asked again if



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 7

there was agreement with identifying ourselves as being located Washington rather than
British Columbia. Vanlaanen said we tend not to have a national visibility; however there
might be some instances where we have to identify ourselves. For a mission statement,
Vanlaanen said she didn’t think it was necessary. The identification can be done in other
ways. Koplan asked how this identification is handled on the Web site. Vanlaanen said the
banner currently has a line that says, “Serving Southwest Washington State,” but we would
change that. Vanlaanen said we do want to retain some aspect of our geographic location on
our home page.

Reynolds said she also likes option #5. Smith asked Vanlaanen for her preference and she
said it was also that option. Peterson said several other options include the mention of serving
patrons, but not all people understand what “patron” means. There was agreement with the
group that option #5 was best, which is: “Fort Vancouver Regional Library District provides
gateways to ideas, information and community interaction.”

8. RFID EXPLANATION
Duitman explained that Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) is something we are looking
at as part of our building projects. We currently use a barcode system that requires scanning
by staff. Patron self-service will be incorporated into the libraries more including self-
checkout which is similar to what is being done in many stores, such as Fred Meyers. Staff
has looked at several different types of self-checkout and materials handling systems.
Barcodes limit expansion abilities with materials handling systems. Staff has determined that
using RFID will provide more opportunities in the future.

Duitman explained how RFID works. RFID tags would be placed on materials. When a
patron checks out the material, they can set a small stack on the “antenna” (this is a flat,
square surface that reads the tags). They either scan their library card or if we go to RFID
cards, they would simply place their card on top of the stack of books. The patron’s name
will appear on the screen with their list of checked out items (the items in the stack).

Yee asked how many libraries are using this type of system. Duitman said RFID is being
used in libraries all across the United States. The technology started in Europe and has been
around a while. We are not a pioneer in this. The tags are proprietary, which means they can
be used by multiple vendors. There is certification that includes rolls of tags being checked to
make sure they work. The tags cost about 50 cents each. It’s very standardized.

Duitman explained benefits in using RFID and materials handling systems. Staff would be
doing less routine work; instead they would be freed up to work directly with patrons
providing service in the book stacks. There’s a handheld device that staff can take out to scan
the shelves. You could also perform an inventory in this way. Staff would not be doing
repetitive work of scanning individual items, since they can place stacks of materials on a flat
antenna. This would lead to improved ergonomics.

Concerns that staff is still addressing include how to handle materials that do not have the
RFID tag. We would have a transition period between the two systems. Duitman said our
goal would be to start tagging all new materials that are purchased, so that by the time we are
ready to go to RFID we’d have part of the collection done. To apply the tags to existing



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 8

collections, staff would take a laptop with a scanner on a cart along each isle. They would
scan a barcode and create a tag on the fly, then put it on the book. A library with 400,000
items took about a week to do this work. The information in each “tag” would be similar to
that information kept in a barcode.

Yee asked about the size of the tag. Duitman said they are fairly small, about 2 inches square.
The tags have a permanent adhesive that keeps them affixed to material.

Ziegman said RFID would make it possible to perform an inventory. King asked if we would
need to issue new library cards if we went to RFID and Duitman said yes. Vanlaanen asked
about the range to read the tags. Duitman said it’s not a huge range, although it can be
adjusted some. This is because you don’t want to accidentally pick up unintended materials
nearby. The vendors are very aware of privacy issues also.

Duitman said that a Request for Proposals has gone out. Which technology is used depends
on the vendor. Not all systems are alike. The tags are interchangeable; however the hardware
looks different with different systems. Some look like PCs and some look like stand-alone
kiosks.

Koplan asked how the system deals with theft. Duitman said it also allows us to have security
systems. Currently Vancouver has a security gate and you have to pass your library books
around it. An RFID system would know that your materials are checked out to you and
would allow you to exit with them. If materials are not checked out the alarm goes off. To
address theft, everything would need to be tagged. Yee said if you can start tagging way in
advance, you could give yourself a year to tag everything. Duitman said we’re hoping to have
hardware installed in the Vancouver Mall library during the building project, which would be
completed by the end of this year. She said our goal is to keep moving on it and get it all
done in a few years. Yee said isn’t the big cost the purchase of al those tags. Duitman
agreed, however we would be able to stop purchasing the current security tags that are used
with the security system in the Main library.

It was asked whether we would tag such things as magazines and paperback books. Chesbro
said some systems do not tag those items. Some systems have a tag at the checkout machine
that can be scanned for each paperback or magazine, rather than affixing them to each
individual item.

Peterson asked about system backup and repair. Duitman said that would be an important
feature in the vendor agreement. Systems come with a handheld device that can be used when
the system is down. As long as you have electricity, you can use the handhelds and it stores
the data. Then when you’re back up, you can download the data into the system. Peterson
asked if there are problems with people tampering with the frequencies. Chesbro said she has
talked with staff in several other library systems and this has not been a concern expressed by
any of them. However, she said it’s something we could look into. Yee asked if the tags
could be demagnetized. Duitman said if that occurred, it would be found as staff is checking
in the materials. Ziegman said one of the issues in earlier materials handling systems was
operational noise. They were extremely noisy. More recently staff reviewed a system that
operated nearly silently. Another issue was quantity going through the system at once.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 9

Seattle’s main library had problems with this as they were so busy. Ziegman said he didn’t
think that would be a problem in our system.

Devlin said one of the biggest issues we may have is with staff members who really like
checking the materials in and out, and so this would be a difference for them. There will still
be some activity for staff monitoring and moving carts around as they fill up. Devlin said
staff would be spending their time doing different, more high-value service for patrons, such
as helping them find materials. Koplan added that they would also do inventories and make
sure books are in the right place. Vanlaanen said this is one of the ways we will be able to
staff bigger libraries. King asked if it will be required by the public to use the self-checkout
system. Some people do not feel comfortable with those types of system. Duitman said it
would be an option; there would still be some staff checking out. Duitman said that self-
checkout in stores has changed to where they now allow an unlimited number of items and
there are fewer checkers at the other stations. Devlin said we should set a goal of 90% self-
check; some libraries are nearly at 100% because the patrons find it so easy to do.

The group watched a video that demonstrates how RFID works.

Duitman said staff would review the RFP responses in the next few weeks and should have an
idea which vendor to select by the end of April. Ziegman said the preliminary cost estimates
are within the district’s financial means.

DDR DEMO

Ziegman introduced Information Services Associate Jen Studebaker and Young Adult
Librarian Maria Lowe, who gave a demonstration of “Dance Dance Revolution,” a popular
activity at many teen library programs. Studebaker said she has been involved in teen
programming for some time now and that the teens love playing this game.

Koplan noted that this type of activity is included in many programs to draw teens to the
library, which will then lead to them feeling more comfortable here and using the library
throughout their lives.

Peterson recessed the meeting for lunch at 11:55 a.m. The meeting reconvened at 1:02 p.m.

10.

LIBRARY FUNDING OVERVIEW
Duitman shared a PowerPoint Presentation that provided an overview of the library district’s
funding process and an update for what lies ahead.

Following the presentation, Yee asked about levy lid lift elections. Could the library
designate an amount to be voted on that is between its current levy rate and the maximum
statutory rate of 50 cents per thousand of assessed valuation? Duitman said yes. Our current
levy rate is the lowest it has been in our history. In addition, if current legislation related to
levy lid lifts pass, there would be the option of retaining the new levy rate for up to 6 years.
However, after that period of time, the library’s levy rate would drop to the low point it would
have been at if had it not held a lid lift. This means a levy lid lift would likely be needed at
least every 6 years. The district could choose to have a vote on both the new levy rate and the
length of time it would be in place. King asked about successful lid lifts for other library



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 10

11.

districts in Washington. Ziegman said that among the largest library districts, both King
County and Pierce County libraries have recently passed lid lifts.

REVIEW OF DRAFT 2007 SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET

Ziegman explained the supplemental budget request. Due to financial conditions the district
faced in 2003, the district has spent very conservatively for a number of years now. This
conservative spending has meant funds need to be re-designated to the present year. A
downside is that we’ve allowed ourselves to operate in a seriously understaffed position.
Ziegman explained items included in the budget request. Discussion about this request
included:

Since we are already going to be doing some technology upgrades at the Mall library
using bond funds, it makes sense to do some painting, carpeting and remodeling there as
well, which would need to be paid out of district funds.

In Goldendale, there has been vandalism and other activities by teens on the second floor,
and staff feels this is a situation that needs monitoring; a security camera system would be
ideal.

There have been enough incidents of people wandering around that no one knows at the
Main library that it’s a good idea to begin using a name badge system. As a modest
security measure, to have everyone wear picture identification with first name on a badge
would help address this situation. Duitman explained that the City of Vancouver has a
security system at Firstenburg Center and they’d like the library to have something
similar. We’ll be able to tap into their system. The City is also going to replace the front
doors at the Main library.

We will be replacing a library vehicle. Ziegman said we are going to get a small energy
efficient car as a replacement this year, as some of the travel by staff is only one person
and not a group. If this works okay, we’ll look at a balance of smaller, more energy
efficient cars with vans. Koplan asked if this is better than paying staff mileage to use
their own car. Ziegman said staff has a choice. Some prefer to use their own car. Some
employees use public transportation or feel their vehicle is not as trustworthy. There is no
real difference in cost between the two options.

We are using an array of projection equipment much more frequently and broadly. We’re
recommending equipment for each location that has a meeting room, plus one system that
can float among the other libraries.

A better sound system is needed for board meetings. The current one doesn’t have
enough microphones and provides inadequate sound for meetings. The new system would
be wireless and would include several handhelds for the audience too.

We’ll need workstations for new staffing, if the staffing is approved.

Smith asked about the microfilm readers. Microfilm can be clumsy and easily broken.
She asked if there are plans to put the information on disk. Ford said the readers are most
heavily used for newspapers. There’s a nationwide project underway to digitize
newspapers, but it’s an enormous project and will take some time before our local papers
are digitized. Ziegman added ProQuest is initiating a project to digitize the Seattle Times,
but it’s a half-million dollar project and they are seeking library partnerships for the costs.
King asked about costs related to the new buildings. Ziegman said that the Vancouver
Mall costs relate to that; also there is the building project staff. King noted that this does
not address the future staffing of the larger libraries. Ziegman said it doesn’t directly
address that, however once the new libraries are built we would transition the FTE of the



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 11

building project staff into FTE for operating larger libraries. We will also have revenue
freed up from the sale of the existing Cascade Park location and discontinued leased
space. Yee asked why the project positions would not be funded out of the bond measure.
Ziegman said that a certain amount of money was allocated in the bond for staffing,
however not enough was put in to cover that and all the other aspects we would like
included in the projects. What we are suggesting is that initially, as long as we can afford
to do so, we pay for the positions out of regular funds. He thinks we’re going to need all
the bond funds for the buildings, due to inflation. We will watch as we go to see where
the money is most needed. If the district has a shortfall, it can be refunded from the bond.
If we don’t have a shortfall, then we could keep them in the regular budget. Once the
projects end, the FTE could be converted into library positions to help staff larger
buildings. Ziegman said this is an age-old problem of government. How do you budget
enough money to get things done, and have the bond low enough to be able to pass it?
Yee asked why not sell all the bonds at once and arbitrage it, so long as you specify?
Duitman said it’s not illegal, but bond counsel and financial advisors tell us we shouldn’t
do it. If we did, buyers won’t want it because they’ll know you’ll go up to arbitrage.

Ziegman asked for feedback about the RFID presentation and the inclusion of RFID tags in
the supplemental budget. A lengthy discussion followed:

King asked about the cost. Duitman said the cost this year is just for the tags, not the
systems. The systems will initially be out of the bond money.

Koplan suggested that if we’re going to go for a lid lift in the future, that updating
automation potential or capabilities would be a strong selling point to the public.

Burkman asked how much the equipment would cost to fully implement this. Duitman
said she didn’t have the proposals in yet, but costing for the bond proposal was $25,000-
$50,000 for materials handling at each location. Fully installing it at the Three Creeks
library would cost $50,000. Burkman said it sounds like it would cost about $750,000
district-wide to implement. However, Devlin noted that not all locations would utilize a
sorting system and so for some locations the cost would be much lower.

Koplan said the last time we held a levy lid lift, it was for automation and it passed
handily. She said she had asked Ziegman earlier to consider what it would do to us to
invest in this type of system now without having all the equipment to making it useful.
What are we accomplishing other than placing tags in books? Chesbro said that waiting to
begin tagging books would mean up to several weeks of library closure at the time that we
transition to the new system. We would rather begin tagging books in advance so that
most of the collection is ready. Koplan asked about having part time people brought in for
a special project. Ziegman noted that we had already made a commitment out of the bond
measure to use materials handling. Devlin said if we wait, we might lose the ability to
purchase a system for the Three Creeks library out of its Library Capital Facility Area
funds; Duitman added that the remaining funds must be spent this year.

Koplan noted that only the new libraries would be up and running on RFID and materials
handling systems. Only the newly acquired materials would be tagged. Peterson said she
could see people wanting to support it after seeing how it works. Burkman questioned
why people would want to pay more if they can see it’s already partly in place. King
asked how it would be possible to have two systems working simultaneously. Ziegman
said some libraries have hybrid systems in place where both barcodes and RFID is used.
Duitman said this is a requirement in our RFP.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 12

e Deuvlin said an advantage of having a book drop with the RFID antenna inside is that the
system knows immediately that material has been returned. This fits in well with our new
checkout limits. Currently, if someone turns in materials into the book drop and then
finds out they are over the checkout limit, staff must empty that book bin to clear their
record. This can be very frustrating to both staff and patrons.

e Burkman asked how long before we could feasibly go for a levy lid lift? Ziegman said
this is part of tomorrow’s discussion, but his opinion is no sooner than Fall 2008.

e Burkman asked about the number of materials we’d be able to tag with the funds in the
budget. Chesbro said we purchase about 80,000 items a year. The amount would give us
enough to tag 100,000 a year. Also, we would have 70,000 items for the new collection
arriving tagged. We could pay for the tags for Three Creeks out of the Three Creeks
LCFA fund. Chesbro said she’s concerned about putting off beginning our new purchase,
because you do want some lead time to get up to having enough tagged. Burkman asked
what percent of our collection would this represent and Chesbro said about 10%. Also,
statistically the newer materials are checked out faster. Burkman noted that the smaller
branches would not have the equipment. Burkman asked how much RFID would get
utilized in the first few years. Chesbro said you’re picking up a significant portion of the
items that are checked out, because it’s the newer materials. Ford noted that every branch
could conceivably do self-check in next few years. Burkman said he’s hearing a lot of
support for it by staff, but we’ll lose all value for it for a levy lid lift.

e Koplan asked what other libraries that have passed lid lifts recently used for their selling
points. Ziegman said Pierce County’s new services included more open hours and more
bestsellers available. Ziegman said while this could be an asset for a levy lid lift, he’s not
sure it’s worth waiting to start. He said he feels we have enough other selling points for a
lid lift. Turpen said if we wait, it makes design of the buildings very difficult. The path
we’re on now sets a framework to have a vendor selection process, so vendors can work
with us as we design workrooms. If we wait, we would need to revamp workrooms after
new libraries have opened. Burkman said it’s necessary to have this in order to implement
the design, then that implies we’ve already made the decision.

e Koplan said she brought this up to Ziegman immediately and he has talked about it with
staff. She feels we can move on and make these decisions later. Burkman said he
recommends we go forward on this; however it means we’re making a policy decision to
move forward in the fastest means possible. Peterson said she doesn’t know that it’s the
fastest way to do this; it doesn’t take priority over anything else. But it has huge
implications for the new libraries. Ziegman said it brings up a deeper question. He asked
the board if they thought it was an operational or policy decision. Burkman said it’s a
policy because it’s similar to deciding whether or not to go with computers. He supports
it, but it is a strategic decision. It involves a series of investments to make our buildings
work with it. Then how you implement it is an administrative issue. Koplan said if
Ziegman brought it as an entire project to the library board it would have been more
obvious that it’s a policy decision. Yee agreed that small expenses that lead to future
capital expenses are policy decisions.

e Burkman said he’s hearing a lot of interest in this. He’s going to recommend that the
board direct staff to move forward to implement RFID and this is the first step. Koplan
asked if we should put it in the agenda as a separation motion. The motion could include
a statement that as money is available, we put it toward the direction of making materials
handling as efficient as possible. Burkman said he’d recommend a broader direction to



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 13

review what the next steps are. Peterson said she’d recommend leaving it open to the levy
lid lift for the other libraries. Koplan agreed to that.

Ziegman continued his overview of the supplemental budget. Discussion included:

* We are out of space in the main library due to the addition of project staff. Leased space
is recommended. Ziegman said the staff that would move to leased space includes the
early learning positions, which are responsible for the Discovery Kits that require
significant storage space.

e Reynolds asked why the salary is lower for the White Salmon bilingual assistant versus
the Children’s Assistant. Duitman said the White Salmon Assistant is at level 4, which is
our highest union position. The Children’s Assistant is not on the union scale; it also has
more responsibility and is working on a district wide project. Reynolds asked about
educational requirements for the two positions. Duitman said the Children’s Assistant
would require several years of experience working with children and college education.
The White Salmon position would not require a degree, although experience working in a
library is desired. Yee noted that we do not have control over the union positions.

e Peterson asked about the search process to fill the positions. Duitman said staff would
meet in the next few days to determine priority, should the board approve the positions.
The Technology Director and Human Resources Assistant would be among the first
posted.

Peterson recessed the meeting for a break from 2:38-2:50 p.m.

12.

FUTURE BUDGET PRESENTATIONS & FINANCIAL TRACKING

Duitman went over several line charts depicting anticipated and actual expenditures in
categories including personnel, professional services, small equipment, supplies,
travel/training, capital expenses and library materials for both 2006 and 2007. She noted that
these categories make up over 84% of the budget. Duitman noted that this type of
information could be presented to the board on a quarterly or monthly basis, and could
include annotations about major differences that occur between anticipated and actual
expenditure. Burkman said this information is very helpful and that he appreciates seeing
where there are discrepancies. Burkman suggested adding a numeric line to the charts
showing accumulative. He also said he would prefer to see these reports on a monthly rather
than quarterly basis. Yee said if it’s not possible to have it every month, then every other
month would be fine too. Burkman said that this will help to facilitate a monthly discussion.
He asked Duitman how long it takes to prepare the charts. Duitman explained that the most
significant time is spent in laying out the anticipated expenses for the full year. Once that is
completed, the actual expenses are much simpler to plug in. Peterson inquired about the
software used and expressed her support in implementing software that would help.

Duitman asked the board if they felt it was a policy or administrative decision to determine a
percent at which the personnel part of the budget would be set at. For example, is it a board
or administrative decision to set the personnel budget at 96% of full employment? The board
discussed the issue and it was left as an administrative decision. Peterson said that no action
needs to be taken on this; the board has agreed that being able to review the charts depicting
actual versus anticipated expenditures would help us see any trends; at which point staff could



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 14

make adjustments if needed. It was questioned whether any change needs to be made to
written policy, and agreed that no changes need to be made.

Peterson moved the meeting into an executive session at 3:35 p.m. to discuss legal issues and real
estate. Executive session ended at 4:15 p.m. with no action taken, and the meeting was recessed for
dinner. Peterson reconvened the meeting at 6:00 p.m.

13. ANNOUNCEMENTS
Peterson thanked newcomers for attending and White Salmon library staff for hosting the
meeting.

14. CITIZEN COMMENTS
On behalf of Friends of Battle Ground Community Library, Jane Higgins expressed gratitude
to the library board. The Foundation has received a $250,000 grant from Meyer Memorial
Trust for the Battle Ground library project. She said the only reason the library was eligible
for the grant is because the board allocated an additional $750,000 toward the project last
October. Higgins said the library board’s action has started a snowball effect of other funding
opportunities. Peterson congratulated Higgins and Smithrud for doing so well with their
fundraising efforts.

15. BUSINESS

A. Expenditure Approval

MOTION: Bonnie Reynolds moved and Jack Burkman seconded approval of the accounts
payable, payroll and payroll payables as presented. The motion carried unanimously.

B. Public Hearing on 2007 Amended Budget
Peterson moved the meeting into a public hearing on the 2007 amended budget at 6:04
p.m. She explained that the budget resolution provides an allocation of funds unexpended
from 2006. She explained what was included in the supplemental budget for the benefit
of those who have joined the meeting.

Duitman noted that the $750,000 approved by the board in October for the Battle Ground
library project is incorporated in this amendment and will be transferred to the Battle
Ground Building Fund upon approval of the budget.

Board Discussion:

King said we had a good discussion this afternoon. Koplan said she is comfortable in
taking action on this. Ziegman noted that the White Salmon position would have a
requirement that the staff member be bilingual (English/Spanish) so we can make a bigger
impact on services to the community.

Citizen Comments:
None. Peterson closed the public hearing at 6:10 p.m.




FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 15

MOTION: Jack Burkman moved and Rose Smith seconded approval of Resolution 2007-2
(Budget Amendment #07-03), amending the 2007 budget to $23,488,849. The motion carried
unanimously.

Koplan congratulated White Salmon staff for the additional employee that will help them
extend services to more of their community. White Salmon Valley Community Librarian
Jennifer Hull expressed how grateful the staff is to have this new position.

C. Policy Review
Koplan reported that the policy committee met and reviewed the draft policies. She
commended staff for their good work in preparing recommendations. One of the goals of
the Confidentiality Policy was to make it more concise. As there were similar statements
in the former Code of Ethics for Library Trustees and Role of the Board policies, the two
policies were combined.

Confidentiality Policy

Ziegman said that while the Confidentiality Policy is very short in length, the brevity of
the policy does not reflect the length of time it took to get to the recommended revision.
It’s a very important policy and one that library employees work with frequently.
Administration spent several months working with staff and considering their input. King
said he worked in municipal law for a long time and there is an inherent concern about
keeping public records open. He thinks it’s a very good thing that citizens have a right to
see records. However, libraries have an important responsibility to their users to protect
their confidentiality and people have reasons to want to protect their privacy. He said this
short policy we’re proposing now is clear and recognizes the general rule of open records
but acknowledges our special situation.

MOTION: Merle Koplan moved and Jerry King seconded approval of the draft Confidentiality
of Patron and Circulation Records Policy as presented. The motion carried unanimously.

Code of Ethics for Library Trustees
Ziegman explained that the existing policies need to be revoked before a new combined
policy can be approved.

MOTION: Jack Burkman moved and Merle Koplan seconded revoking the existing Code of
Ethics for Library Trustees. The motion carried unanimously.

MOTION: Merle Koplan moved and Bill Yee seconded revoking the existing Role of the Board
policy. The motion carried unanimously.

MOTION: Jack Burkman moved and Rose Smith seconded approval to adopt the draft Trustee
Ethics and Responsibilities Policy as presented. The motion carried unanimously.

Koplan thanked the staff for their work on these policies. Ziegman noted that we’ve
almost achieved the board’s goal of reviewing all the policies on a seven year cycle. One
policy still needing review is the Code of Ethics for Professional Librarians policy.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 16

Ziegman said he plans to work with staff on this one and will bring it to the board at a
later meeting.

D. Mission Statement Revision
Peterson said that the board is looking at their mission statement in response to feedback
from patrons in our library service area in Klickitat County. This relates to the use of
“Southwest Washington” in the statement. It has come to our attention that citizens
residing in that area of the state do not necessarily see themselves as being part of
Southwest Washington. The board has reviewed several recommendations and agreed
that the option with the location removed is the best choice. Ziegman added that patrons
at the Goldendale library noticed this when a framed version of the mission was hung on
the wall recently.

MOTION: Bill Yee moved and Rose Smith seconded approval of a revised Mission statement
that would read: “Fort Vancouver Regional Library District provides gateways to ideas,
information and community interaction.” The motion carried unanimously.

E. Interlocal Agreement with City of Vancouver Regarding Eastside Library Project
Duitman said the land at the new Eastside Vancouver library is owned by the City of
Vancouver. The proposed Interlocal Agreement would allow the library to lease 28,000
square feet of land where an approximately 25,000 square foot building could be build.
The lease would be for 99 years at $1.00 per year. Other statements in the agreement
include that the City would sign off in agreement with the design we propose and would
have a representative involved in the project. It also addresses the approximately 60 new
parking spaces that the library would pay to put in or pay an equivalent if the City decides
to do some other kind of parking structure. Duitman said a joint use agreement regarding
the property surrounding the building would come later.

MOTION: Jerry King moved and Rose Smith seconded approval of the Interlocal Agreement
between FVRL and the City of Vancouver regarding the Eastside Vancouver Library as
presented.

Peterson asked for discussion. King expressed his appreciation for the land we’ve been provided. He
said it’s a beautiful site. He also noted that there are a number of trees on the property and that the
library’s project team is working on trying to save as many as possible. Ziegman said there is another
20,000 square feet not leased to us that will surround the property and it will have many of the trees.
He said we will have an agreement with the City to respect this wooded area as it’s what makes this
site special.

VOTE: The motion carried unanimously.

Peterson said she truly appreciates the City of Vancouver’s support of the library.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 17

16. REPORTS

A. Community Libraries Report

Devlin shared several highlights from her written report, which is attached. She
introduced Jennifer Hull, the White Salmon Valley Community Librarian, who shared
news from the branch.

Hull welcomed everyone to White Salmon, especially the new board member who
represents Klickitat County. She introduced Friends and staff members who were present.
Their programs are very successful, including the recent Celtic music event that had more
than 100 citizens in attendance. The youngest performer in the program was just 6 years
old and performed a step dance during the program. Also during the event, a story was
read from a library book. Hull thanked the board for coming to White Salmon and for
making the individual and remote libraries feel part of the district. She said the rural
library patrons are the most appreciative of all the work you do and they really understand
what an excellent library system we have.

FVRL Foundation Update
Smithrud shared news from his written report, which is attached.

17. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S REPORT

Ziegman provided an update about current bills in the legislature that affect libraries:

The Lid Lift bill: If this passes, it would allow for levy lid lifts that would maintain a levy
rate for up to six years. Ziegman said 50 cents per thousand of assessed valuation is the
statutory maximum library districts may collect in Washington; however FVRL’s current
levy is much lower due to limits imposed by Initiative 747 and the effects of inflation.
The lid lift bill has passed the Senate and gone on to the House. King asked if there was
still time to contact legislators. Ziegman said it was too late to write to them; however
people could still make phone calls or send emails.

The State Library bill. The State Library was moved off campus several years ago due to
lack of funding. Secretary of State Sam Reed took over it and his goal has been to get it
back on campus. This bill proposes a new building on the Campus that overlooks Capital
Lake and would include the State Library, Museum and Archives. Ziegman said the new
location and combined departments would provide students and visitors with opportunities
to learn about the history of the state and see historical documents.

The Renton Bill. The City of Renton wishes to annex a portion of unincorporated King
County that happens to have a branch of the King County Library System. If this bill
passes, the City would take ownership of that library without any negotiation. Ziegman
said this bill has died in committee. However, even when a bill appears to be dead there
are ways for them to be revived, and so it is being monitored until the session has finished.
Ziegman provided an update about the LIFT (local infrastructure financing tool) bill that
was passed in the last session. This bill allows tax increment financing for specified pilot
projects. One of the projects is the parking lot that will be under our new main library.
Some changes have been made to the bill; this has passed both houses and gone on to the
governor. One change allows for more than one project in the counties where there are
pilot projects.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 18

18.

19.

20.

Ziegman reported on the latest merger of two product lines held by our automation vendor,
SirsiDynix. SirsiDynix is merging its Unicorn and Horizon product lines and will be called
“Rome” in the future. FVRL is fortunate that the new platform will be based on the one we
currently have, which is Unicorn.

Also mentioned was that staff will be working on standardizing the furniture that is purchased
for new and existing libraries. Many factors will be considered, including the durability,
comfort and ability to clean the furnishings.

Vancouver’s Central Park Plan is being updated. Ziegman said that the main library is
located within that area. He and Duitman have been involved in meetings with the consultant
for the new plan.

Ziegman gave a presentation to Battle Ground City Council on March 19 to update them
about the Battle Ground library project. He continues to encourage the City to participate in a
financial way in this project.

CITIZEN COMMENTS

Hull thanked the board for approving the new Library Assistant position for the White
Salmon Library. She said it will be exciting to start working with their Hispanic community,
as 20% of school children in their area are Hispanic.

Vanlaanen said the April 9 issue of The Columbian includes an annual Summer Camp
section. The library took out a small ad but also sent in a full list of all library programs.
Within the 32 page section, Vanlaanen noted that there are a full six pages of information
about FVRL activities. She said this is tremendous publicity and she expressed her
appreciation for the Columbian’s support.

Ziegman showed the front page of a recent newspaper issue from Jackson County, Oregon,
where the headline is that libraries have closed.

BOARD COMMENTS
None.

NEXT REGULAR MEETING
The next regular meeting will be on Monday, May 14 at the HomeLink/CAM School in Battle
Ground.

Peterson recessed the meeting at 7:02 p.m. The meeting reconvened the next day at 9:00 a.m.

21.

NEXT RETREAT
The board considered several dates. To avoid spring break and conferences that may impact
staff, they selected April 21-22, 2008 for their next retreat dates.

Peterson moved the meeting into an executive session at 9:07 a.m. to discuss union negotiations.
Executive session ended at 10:20 a.m. with no action taken. Peterson reconvened the meeting at
10:30 a.m.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 19

22.

FUTURE PLANNING

Ziegman referred a written report he prepared related to future planning. We’ve had some
good feedback from our communities. A recent library survey shows that 97% of library
users are satisfied with their experience. The Vancouver libraries bond measure passed with
more than 63% support, which shows very good support for libraries. Even in Battle Ground,
the last bond measure received a majority support although 60% was needed to pass.
However, one concern Ziegman shared is that fewer than 50% of our population has a library
card and he said that could be improved.

Population is expected to grow to over 583,000 by the year 2025. Ziegman said he called the
Timberland Regional Library and learned that 80% of their population has library cards;
however they have not purged inactive cardholders from their record for about 8 years. King
County Library System is close to 100% but t they have never purged their old data. FVRL
regularly purges cardholders that have not used the library in 3 years.

Ziegman said that a lack of space to shelve materials is part of the reason we do not have a
higher books per capita. Having fewer books lends itself to lower circulation numbers and
less materials expenditure. Having new libraries in our system will improve these numbers.

Our levy rate is one of the lowest in the state. Pierce County held a levy lid lift election in
2006. It passed and has increased their levy rate to 48 cents per thousand of assessed
valuation.

Staff has been hearing a number of ideas from our communities related to improved services,
which Ziegman said includes:

e Extended hours. This would mean having more hours and consistent schedules
between many locations.

e More library materials. For example, with Pierce County’s levy they promised more
copies of popular materials and they are now on a 3:1 holds-to-copies ratio. We could
do something similar. .

e Movies. We’ve known for a long time that we are one of the few libraries not offering
entertainment movies. When examining circulation statistics of other library districts,
it is clear that movies and music has a significant impact. Burkman asked if this is the
same type of materials provided by Blockbuster and Hollywood Video. Ziegman said
it is, and that if we decide to do this we would need to have a conversation about what
types of movies we want to provide. Reynolds asked about competing with the private
sector. Ziegman said we already compete with the private sector with books.

e E-books. Chesbro said we provide a few reference titles, mostly to make it so smaller
locations can expand their reference materials.

e Music. This would include popular music selections.

e More public computers.

e Better facilities. After the current projects are completed, there will still be several
other locations needing improvements. Burkman asked about a national standard of
square footage per capita. Ziegman said the standard is 0.5 square feet per person.
Once our current building projects are completed we will be at 0.46.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 20

e Enhanced children’s services. Ziegman said there is a strong trend in our communities
right now related to children’s services and early learning. We have been involved in
numerous projects however there is more we could do.

e Targeted programming. Ziegman said that programming is a strength for us. Most of
our programs are targeted to children. Burkman asked how you measure a strength
versus and an overinvestment. Ziegman said he wished we could find out how many
individual, unique people we’re serving and how many are repeat customers. It’s hard
to get at that.

The board discussed the information that was presented. Koplan said a great deal of time
could be spent on this topic alone. We’re hearing some people say libraries are no longer
needed because of computers. Our experience is that people are using the library. One option
she suggested is to begin with our basic values and determine community wants and needs.
She asked if our goal is to provide movies in order to increase circulation. Or do we look at
our Mission statement and determine if it includes entertainment? Ziegman said his purpose
with providing the report was to get a conversation started. His report is just a beginning and
not a complete list of possible ideas. In addition to having board discussions, he
recommended gathering comments from citizens, doing surveys and conducting focus groups
to determine what is needed in our communities. That will need to be balanced against the
Mission. He said he is looking for direction from the board.

King said he’s surprised that we’re not going to have as many books in our new libraries as
he’d thought we could. He said he thinks of the library as a place that there are a lot of good
books that are accessible. The issue about having a top shelf that is not reachable is one he
can understand, both for problems reaching it by many people and for the lack of openness it
lends to an area. He said the placement of shelves is a fundamental question and he’s afraid if
we let it drift the default decision will be to have fewer shelves for the sake of a nicer décor.
Turpen said having fewer shelves also addresses the need for adequate aisle space. There is
an ADA consideration. Also, a wider aisle allows someone to stay in a spot and browse,
which should help increase use of the collection. Turpen said it’s about usability. .

Peterson said rather than looking at this in pieces, she thinks we’re at a point where we need
to do another strategic plan. The last one is basically over in terms of looking for direction.
Where do we want to focus for the next 3-5 years? Is it on the depth of our collection,
programs, or something else? She said it cannot be just the board making this decision. We
need to hold focus groups and have a strategy to target the work. Burkman said the option of
children’s services is in line with our strategic plan. If we ask what patrons want, they’ll tell
us it’s what we’re already doing. We have an obligation to provide some information beyond
what they know about. Personally, he said he is opposed to getting into entertainment,
because we can put a lot of money and time into it and it’s something that’s already available
in the community. We provide temporary use of books, which is not available elsewhere.
Entertainment can be rented fairly cheaply.

Koplan disagreed. She said we’re losing an opportunity to bring in more people who are
comfortable with the idea of using entertainment, and while here they’ll look at other things
we have to offer. Burkman said in watching other businesses try to do this, the startup and
maintenance costs are enormous. The duration that these types of materials are popular is



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 21

very short. Reynolds said that parents feel good about the selections we offer now and if they
had to worry about movies they didn’t want their kids to see at the theater it may deter them
from bringing their families into the library. Yee said books are entertainment too. Ziegman
said there are books in our libraries that parents may not want their kids to check out; that
doesn’t deter them from using the library.

Koplan suggested we research and observe how people are currently using our libraries. How
many are in the stacks? How many are looking at different material formats, for example
DVDs, new books and reference? What material categories are being checked out? Our new
system is allowing us to track categories. How many science fiction, mystery and popular
titles are being circulated versus the old classics? She suggested gathering statistics on topics
such as this so that when we are ready to begin our next Strategic Plan we have factual data to
back it up.

Burkman said if we study what we’ve been doing, we’ll continue doing what we’ve been
doing. He’d like to see us take on a more “leading” role. With the community’s perception
about the Internet and the library value going down, he would like us to be at the forefront and
determine what leading areas we could be involved in. It might be streaming video, e-books,
downloads or something else. We should look at what the world is like, look at what it might
be like, and determine what people want.

Yee asked if we could put a question in our next survey asking what our customers want. We
could provide some options and include a dollar amount that explains how much it would cost
and ask if they’d want the service and would use the library for that service? Burkman said
we could do that, but his experience is that people respond based on what they already know
about you; they lock you into the here and now. We need to make use of people who are
good at future thinking and pull ourselves out a little further.

Yee said you could run a small test program in one of the libraries. Put a resource out and if it
becomes popular you know you’re working with something successful. Burkman said test
marketing something is one way of validating an idea. What do we think is going to be there
years ahead? Koplan agreed we make assumptions of what’s being used, but maybe it’s
really not.

Reynolds said we also make assumptions about what the public knows about our services.
She’s learned so much more about the district and its services since she joined the board.
Many people don’t know about the simplest services we provide. Peterson said she thinks
we’re getting to some strategies that will lead to something. She said one idea earlier was
determining not what people want, but what they need. This is about visioning. Also, how
are we going to fund some of these things? We could build it and expect that they will come,
but you have to structure it which means we will likely need to consider a levy lid lift.
Burkman said the databases the library provides are an example. People he talks to in the
community know nothing about this service. How do we get people out of the mindset about
the traditional library and look at it more openly for what it could be?

Reynolds said mailing books is a wonderful service we provide. She believes people don’t
ask a lot of questions about our services because they don’t want to bother people if they can
look it up themselves. So we need to find a way to communicate with our citizens.



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 22

Chesbro encouraged the board to consider that there are generational differences in how
entertainment is viewed. In the younger generations, information and social networking is
wrapped up in what older generations consider mere entertainment.

King agreed we should be catering to needs rather than wants. He said he’s always been able
to apply that to books and it takes him awhile to see more than just entertainment in the newer
forms of media but perhaps there is more there. A lot of items that might be popular may not
necessarily be a good fit the library. He encouraged that we take a broader look at this. That
might be by examining how people learn first deal with how you learn. In addition to
learning skills, it may mean appreciating other cultures and other people and putting an
emphasis on what people need in a broad philosophical sense rather than just anything they
might want.

Turpen agreed with Ziegman’s early remark about needing to include ideas from the younger
generations. We are used to the idea that the physical book has been used to transfer words
and ideas. Now there is a whole new generation of digital natives. Children are growing up
without the context about books as a place to get ideas and build concepts. She’s trying to
figure out how we’re relevant to the younger population, while at the same time continuing to
serve a population that is steeped in traditional concepts. Our next strategic plan will need to
examine what these two different groups need and how we can serve them. How does the
younger generation get their information? It’s not linked to books. Burkman asked how we
would reach the younger generation get their help in setting a strategic plan.

Ziegman said a focus group was held with middle school students for the Eastside VVancouver
Library. The students were thrilled to be involved. Ziegman was impressed by the creative
and thoughtful responses the students gave to the questions posed by staff. The students had
many ideas about how to make the new library attractive to teens. He said this is where we
could start. Turpen said much that the students described had to do with the space around
them and making it about self-discovery. The library has much to offer in that realm.

Turpen mentioned a needs assessment that was conducted several years ago with members of
the district’s Spanish speaking population. It wasn’t specific to what they wanted from the
library. It was an assessment of their needs in general. From that the library determined what
we could do to meet some of those needs. Turpen said the project gave us credibility and is
allowing us to build relationships. The Spanish speaking community is beginning to see the
library as a very valuable place. This model could be applied to future assessments.

Koplan said she feels that when we look at our Mission and listen to community, it’s the
community interaction component that’s important. Whether it is the kids’ enjoyment of a
story program, interaction at a book study group, mothers chatting, seniors interacting, or the
learning that is happening at ESL groups, interaction is really what is needed and valued in
society today. She said we have an opportunity using the Internet to get feedback. The
Columbian is currently surveying 39-year-old people to find out what their lives are like and
what is middle age; Koplan said it will be interesting to see the responses. We could do
something similar. This may have a budget impact for public relations if we want to do
something now. It also means time spent observing what is really being used and evaluating
it. We could be putting a lot of money and time into something that isn’t being used or



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 23

needed by the community. She said an example of how there could be this type of difference
is that people say they want healthy food from fast food places, but they don’t buy it. So she
agreed that while part of it involves surveying the public, another part is observing what they
are really doing. Ziegman agreed and said it’s also exploring what future things might be out
there that could be valuable to us.

Chesbro said it’s also important to make our libraries pleasant places that people feel are
worth coming to. People feel their time is valuable, and when their time is restricted they
have to make choices about what fits into their schedule. Do they see the library as a place to
get information and be entertained? She encouraged making it so they find the library as a
worthwhile mix of opportunities. Burkman said we also have a population that will never
visit our buildings but that may be using our online resources, and so you need to pay
attention to both those needs.

King said when he was doorbelling during the bond campaign he met many people who had
favorable thoughts and good memories of our libraries. There is a tremendous source of
goodwill. How do we make use of it? Some of these people don’t make use of the library
even though they support it. Peterson said when we look at our demographic voting
population there is a real problem in getting younger people to vote. She suggested this as
something to include in the next strategic plan: how to get the next generation to vote. They
don’t vote about things they don’t know about. We owe it to the next generation to help them
have that identity. Vanlaanen said we have a challenge trying to survey the younger
generation. There is no directory of cell phones and younger people don’t have regular
phones. Burkman said to reach those communities you have to go into their smaller group. If
you do, it’s effective and fast. They put up walls so they aren’t touched by the ads and
marketing so you have to find ways to get beyond that.

Peterson asked how we want to proceed. Ziegman said he is hearing several thoughts:
e QOur brand is still books and we cannot abandon that.
e On the other hand, a huge portion of our population is the younger generation and they
are our future; books isn’t’ their brand. We need to find a way to balance that.

Ziegman said what he should no is come up with a game plan for the next strategic plan. This
would include asking questions more broadly of ourselves and of a wider audience that
includes the younger generation. His plan would get us to the next discussion. He said we
need to look at our 20 year facility plan in that context too, as it cannot be done in isolation.

Burkman said we may have users that access our online catalog but don’t log in. Would we
be able to do an assessment of who those users are and how many there are by looking at
logins and cardholders? Koplan said she wonders how many people even know how good our
internet access is. Chesbro said we’re starting to gather better, more detailed information with
our new system and more demographic information should become available as the product
develops. Once we move our Web site into the Sirsi Rooms product later this year, more data
will be available about use of our Web site. Peterson said we could also examine people’s use
of the library system related to their proximity to a branch. Also, Burkman suggested
examining whether the use is casual or intensive in nature. Turpen said we’ve started doing
some demographic analysis of our area, as well as some statistical analysis. For example, one



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 24

statistics we found was that 75% of the checkouts for one location were to women and 25% to
men. When we talked to staff about this unusual number, we learned that it’s because the
women come in and pick up the books for their entire family. Many of the statistics our new
system can generate require interpretation by staff to determine what the numbers really
mean. Koplan said if we showed someone how to use the library over the internet from home,
what kind of usage would we get from them? The more we tell people what the library has to
offer, the more they are amazed. She said we need to start with our current users by telling
them all we have to offer, for example what is available from our Web site. How many
people know they can see which library has the book they want on the shelf? Word of mouth
will spread.

Peterson said one of the things she’s thought about is that as a board, we’re supposed to know
how the library functions. She asked Ziegman to provide board education about trends in the
library world. Perhaps this could be through a staff report at each board meeting. Ziegman
agreed he could start providing that.

King said he has previously attended library conferences and spoke about their tremendous

value. He suggested that each board member try to attend one or more during their term of

office. It provides an opportunity to learn about library trends and issues and also gives you
an opportunity to network with librarians and board members from around the country. He

said he also writes a report to our board after he’s attended, so he can share a little bit about
what he’s learned.

Duitman said the library district’s Staff Development Conference will have sessions dedicated
to the future of libraries. Board members are invited to participate. Ziegman said information
is also circulated among staff this topic and he could begin including the board when it seems
appropriate. Peterson said she would also really appreciate a 15 minute report about library
trends at each board meeting. There was agreement by the board that we should have this
going forward.

Peterson said the fundraising world is changing dramatically. As we look to the future of the
library, we need to consider the impact to others such as the FVRL Foundation and how it
does business. How can we be helpful in what we package and market so it’s useful to them?
Smithrud said he has been listening and trying to determine how to put a spin on it for the
Foundation. He agreed that our library district under-markets its services. People get their
books and leave, and there is no connection to the other things we do. Advertising programs
is one way to get the word out. Draw people in based on what is offered. Burkman asked
how much of an annual budget Smithrud recommended for marketing. Smithrud noted that
the more advertising you do, the less you pay for each piece of advertising. Koplan said that’s
true, but the amount of people you reach with an ad is not as good as direct marketing and you
don’t get the younger generation. She said the library would also have to advertise on cable
television, on the web, and in other places. But she felt the best marketing is by word of
mouth. Smithrud said Multhomah County Library is doing billboards and bus ads. He felt
that people don’t remember or feel strongly enough to share by word of mouth. Chesbro said
what we don’t provide are the new popular items on the shelves; you have to wait for popular
materials and sometimes the list is quite long. So people don’t bother. One of the things we
could do is cut that wait and start having bestsellers available on the shelves. King said the



FVRL Board of Trustees Retreat Minutes, April 9-10, 2007 Page 25

23.

new buildings will draw in a lot of people. Burkman said when the new buildings open staff
can begin educating people right then as they walk in the door about all that’s available.

Peterson said we also need a short term plan in place to conceptualize what the opening of
these new libraries will mean and how to package it to make them really secure in drawing the
community in. We need to put some money behind this. She said we didn’t spend the whole
supplemental budget. We could ask staff to come back with a proposal to increase marketing.

Koplan said if we release staff from mundane work by having materials handling and self-
checkout available, the staff could spend their time assisting patrons in other ways. The staff
could be showing people how to use different parts of the library.

Peterson asked Vanlaanen if it is reasonable to increase our marketing. Vanlaanen said she’s
one person and it would take more time than she could feasibly do on her own. Burkman
suggested considering temporary help. Koplan said the events calendar doesn’t have a
modern impact and that we need to look at every piece to see if it’s effective. Peterson said
we need to look at what we’re currently doing and examine impact and effectiveness.
Burkman said there appeared to be agreement that the staff should develop a proposal about
how to proceed, for the board’s review.

Devlin shared an idea from the Boston Public Library that she learned about from a Sirsi
SuperConference session. Their library’s foundation had a young professionals group. The
purpose of the group was for future donor development. They targeted well-educated people
in their 20s. The group participated in a number of social activities that provided them with a
good view of the library; these young professionals also provided viral marketing by reaching
their friends and acting as a link of information to the library.

Koplan said the FVRL Foundation dinner is a way to reach a large group and share what the
library has to offer.

Ziegman said he will work with staff to develop a plan and bring it back to the board, to try to
achieve the threads of what has been discussed. He said that 2009 is the target for
implementing a plan. The 20 year facilities plan also needs to be incorporated. Ziegman said
he would organize what he’s heard into some sort of a direction. Peterson said one part of the
plan is to address what type of work needs to be done and hiring someone to help with that.
She said she doesn’t think it’s possible to put this work on top of everything else.

It was agreed that Ziegman would try to have a draft plan ready for the June board meeting.
Smith noted she is unable to attend that meeting.

ADJOURNMENT
The meeting was adjourned at 12:05 p.m.

These minutes were approved at the May 14, 2007 meeting.



Community Libraries Report
For March 2007

PROGRAMS

Stevenson hosted an all day grant writing workshop thanks to a special grant and
collaboration with the Nonprofit Network. The featured speaker was former FVRL
librarian Sara Behrman, who now operates a grant-writing/consulting business in
Portland. FVRL’s Linda Weirather followed Sara, showing the large group how to use
the Foundation Database. The well-attended event included representatives from the
cities, the county, Master Gardeners, Fish Recovery Board, several school districts, the
Chamber of Commerce and the Economic Development Commission. Friends of the
Library provided a delicious lunch.

Over 100 people turned out for a wonderful evening of music in White Salmon featuring
“Highland River,” a group of Columbia Gorge musicians. The evening included Irish
and Scottish jigs, reels and airs, an enchanting Irish fairy tale, and a lively step dance by
Highland River’s youngest member (a WS preschool storytime alum).

Goldendale’s “Bagpipes and Gaelic Song” attracted over 100 people to the outside
amphitheater on a pleasant Friday afternoon in. The program was chosen by the YAAB
group and funded with $200 they raised last fall. The concert appealed to people of all
ages.

Washougal held its annual Doll Tea Party where children introduced their dolls or stuffed
animal friends. The kids enjoyed cake and tea with their parents, and although there was
a craft prepared for it wasn’t used because attendees spent their time socializing and
choosing books to take home. The branch is grateful for the excellent help of volunteer,
Elisa Matthews.

La Center hosted a Cat in the Hat Turns 50 party. This was held in the evening so that
both moms and dads could attend. It included two huge sheet cakes, balloons,
bookmarks and stickers and all the Dr. Seuss Hats available. Jen Swingruber and Cyndy
Volk read Dr. Seuss books and had craft tables to make hats, door knockers and bow ties.
Jen also made a take home packet with crosswords, dot to dots and word finds. Many of
the parents commented that they had as much fun as their children and had been looking
forward to the event all week. One father said he was in Pullman, drove 80MPH just to
get there on time, and was not a bit disappointed.

Michele Taylor (Vancouver Mall) had a very successful Infant/Toddler St Patrick’s Day
Jamboree with 134 in attendance. The Friends helped with stroller parking (a significant
contribution!). The families had a wonderful time and the branch received many positive
comments from them.

A large group of children and adults attended Vancouver’s first “Book Talk” program, a
book discussion group for children age 6-9 and their parents. Ruth Shafer has started the
group as an experiment in response to requests from parents whose children are too
young for Discussion Junction.

Community Libraries Report, March 2007 1



= Goldendale’s Poetry Workshop with Wendy Warren brought in over 20 people, several
of whom have continued to write poetry. At least one has followed up by looking forx
information on getting published as a poet.

= Ridgefield’s Pirates Party brought out some very hearty souls. Nancy McQuillan, a
Friends member and professional storyteller, shared pirate stories. Jenine WhiteCastle
and Jurinda Swingruber led the crafts and other fun that followed. The old trunk Jenine
brought made a great treasure trove for piratical books of all sorts. The Graphics
Department produced large blowups of pirate faces, with openings suitable for small
pirate eyes and grins.

= Stevenson’s Book Discussion group read “The Good Mullah” by Homer E. Rice, a
chilling and thought-provoking story about the Iran-Irag war. The group enjoyed a long
and lively discussion with all members agreeing the book was a must-read.

= Washougal’s Xtream Poets’” Society is busy making minor adjustments to the chapbook
of poems that will be available at the Open Mic reading at Barnes & Noble on April 11th.
At a recent meeting, Sean McGill read Irish poems as well as some of his own poetry,
and he sang too! The group is also busy putting together short poems for the “Take-a-
Poem-Leave-a-Poem” containers before sending them to local schools and libraries.

= The 15" annual Library Sleepover at VVancouver attracted 66 kids and 35 adults. The
slightly lower turnout from previous years and the somewhat older average age (10)
helped to make for a fun and less chaotic event. Staff also planned craft activities that
were easy to set up and clean up.

= Johanna Bateman hosted a Happy Birthday Cat in the Hat party for her Family Story
Time at Vancouver Mall. She read several books while Justin Keeler, in top hat and a
bow tie, kept the crowd entertained with Cat in the Hat trivia questions. The kids
enjoyed cake provided by the Friends, and crafts at the end of the program.

= The Yale Book Discussion g